# CUYAHOGA COUNTY LAND REUTILIZATION CORPORATION CUYAHOGA COUNTY, OHIO

**REGULAR AUDIT** 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022



www.reacpa.com

### Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation Cuyahoga County, Ohio

#### Table of Contents

	Page
Independent Auditor's Report.	1
Management's Discussion and Analysis	4
Basic Financial Statements:	
Government-wide Financial Statements:	
Statement of Net Position	10
Statement of Activities	11
Fund Financial Statements:	
Balance Sheet – Governmental Funds	12
Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balances to Net Position of Governmental Activities	13
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Change in Fund Balances – Governmental Funds	14
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Change in Fund Balances of Governmental Fund to the Statement of Activities	15
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements	16
Supplemental Information:	
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance – Budget (Non-GAAP Basis) and Actual – General Fund	31
Notes to the Supplemental Information	32
Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with <i>Governmental Auditing Standards</i>	35



#### INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Board of Directors and Management Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation Cuyahoga County, Ohio 812 Huron Road, Suite #800 Cleveland, Ohio 44115

#### **Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements**

#### **Opinions**

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation, Cuyahoga County, Ohio (the Corporation), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Corporation's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Corporation, as of December 31, 2022, and the respective changes in financial position, for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

#### Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (*Government Auditing Standards*). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Corporation and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

#### **Emphasis of Matter**

As discussed in Note 13 to the financial statements, the Corporation restated its governmental activities' net position and the General Fund's fund balance at December 31, 2021 to correct an understatement of capital assets and unearned revenue as well as for the implementation of GASB 87, Leases. We did not modify our opinion regarding this matter.

Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation Independent Auditor's Report Page 2 of 3

#### Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.

#### Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and *Government Auditing Standards* will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

- exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
- evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control—related matters that we identified during the audit.

Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation Independent Auditor's Report Page 3 of 3

#### Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the *Management's Discussion and Analysis*, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

#### Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the Corporation's basic financial statements. The Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance – Budget (Non-GAAP Basis) and Actual – General Fund is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance – Budget (Non-GAAP Basis) and Actual – General Fund is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

#### Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated May 30, 2023 on our consideration of the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Lea & Associates, Inc.

Rea & Associates, Inc. New Philadelphia, Ohio May 30, 2023

Management's Discussion and Analysis For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 Unaudited

The discussion and analysis of Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation's (the Corporation) financial performance provides an overall review of the Corporation's financial activities for the year ended December 31, 2022. The intent of this discussion and analysis is to look at the Corporation's financial performance as a whole; readers should also review the basic financial statements and notes to enhance their understanding of the Corporation's financial performance.

#### **Financial Highlights**

Key financial highlights for 2022 are as follows:

- The Corporation is focused on three interrelated principles: returning property to productive use, returning property to the tax duplicate, and accelerating economic or housing activity in Cuyahoga County communities. The Corporation works cooperatively with cities, other units of government, lenders, and individual property owners, to acquire troubled real estate and return it to productive use.
- The Corporation saw a decrease in expenses from 2021 to 2022 primarily due to a decrease in demolition project volume from prior years. During 2022, the Corporation's net position increased by \$272,392.

#### **Using this Annual Financial Report**

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements and notes to those statements. These statements are prepared and organized so the reader can understand the Corporation as a financial whole or as an entire operating entity. The statements then proceed to provide an increasingly detailed look at our specific financial conditions.

The statement of net position and statement of activities provide information about the activities of the whole Corporation, presenting both an aggregate view of the Corporation's finances and a longer-term view of those finances. The statement of activities shows changes to net position related to each department of the Corporation. Fund financial statements tell how services were financed in the short-term as well as what dollars remain for future spending.

#### Reporting on the Corporation as a Whole

Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities

The statement of net position and statement of activities include all assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources using the accrual basis of accounting similar to the accounting method used by the private sector. The basis for this accounting takes into account all of the current year's revenues and expenses regardless of when the cash was received or paid.

Management's Discussion and Analysis For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 Unaudited

These two statements report the Corporation's net position and the changes in net position. The change in net position is important because it tells the reader whether, for the Corporation as a whole, the financial position of the Corporation has improved or diminished. However, in evaluating the overall position of the Corporation, non-financial information such as the condition of the Corporation's capital assets will also need to be evaluated.

The statement of net position and the statement of activities are divided into the following categories:

- Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources
- Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources
- Net Position (Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources minus Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources)
- Program Expenses and Revenues
- General Revenues
- Net Position Beginning and End of Year

#### Reporting on the Corporation's Most Significant Funds

The analysis of the Corporation's major funds begins on page 7. Fund financial reports provide detailed information about the Corporation's major funds. The Corporation uses two funds to account for their financial transactions. However, these fund financial statements focus on the Corporation's most significant funds. The Corporation's only major governmental fund is the general fund.

Governmental Funds Most of the Corporation's activities are reported in governmental funds, which focus on how money flows into and out of those funds and the balances left at year end available for spending in future periods. These funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting, which measures cash and all other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash. The governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view of the Corporation's general government operations and the basic services it provides. Governmental fund information helps determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to provide to the Corporation's constituents. The relationship (or differences) between governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds is reconciled in the financial statements.

#### The Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation as a Whole

The statement of net position looks at the Corporation as a whole. Table 1 provides a summary of the Corporation's net position for 2022 and 2021.

Management's Discussion and Analysis For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 Unaudited

Table 1 Net Position			
	2021		
Assets			
Current and Other Assets	\$32,729,303	\$27,006,051	
Nondepreciable Capital Assets	1,314,840	902,400	
Depreciable Capital Assets, Net	4,771,358	4,208,654	
Total Assets	38,815,501	32,117,105	
Liabilities			
Current and Other Liabilities	7,223,795	1,799,977	
Long-Term Liabilities:	, ,	, ,	
Due Within One Year	98,454	164,089	
Due In More Than One Year	60,855	83,283	
Total Liabilities	7,383,104	2,047,349	
<b>Deferred Inflows of Resources</b>			
Leases	5,862,979	4,772,730	
Net Position			
Net Investment in Capital Assets	5,926,889	4,776,859	
Restricted for:			
Cuyahoga County Housing Program	9,845,078	7,567,165	
Cuyahoga Land Bank Charities	528,001	319,749	
Unrestricted	9,269,450	12,633,253	
Net Position	\$25,569,418	\$25,297,026	

Cash collected by the Corporation is deposited into a checking account for operating purposes. During 2022, cash and cash equivalents had an increase of \$2,434,329 from 2021 primarily due to an increase in grant revenue. The Corporation commenced implementing the Cuyahoga County Housing Program in 2020. The program funding is derived from three sources; the Cuyahoga County Community Development Fund (CCCDF), an allocated portion of current Delinquent Tax and Assessment Collection (DTAC) funds the Corporation receives from Cuyahoga County and Cash Reserves held by the Corporation from prior year CCCDF and DTAC funds received. The purpose of the program is to invest in home owner assistance, in the renovation of properties and in new construction projects in the County.

Assets held for resale showed a \$3,129,159 increase from 2021 and resulted from increased construction and rehabilitation activity of the Corporation.

Receivables at December 31, 2022, consisted of funds due from Cuyahoga County and various other sources. Intergovernmental receivables increased due to the timing of grant monies received. The Corporation performs asbestos removal prior to demolition or rehabilitation of structures. The Corporation is reimbursed by the County for a portion of these costs. Allowance for doubtful accounts were not recorded because all receivables are expected to be collected.

The increase in liabilities was primarily due to an increase in unearned revenue related to grant dollars received for housing programs and renovations.

Further details of the changes in net position between 2022 and 2021 can be observed in Table 2.

Management's Discussion and Analysis For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 Unaudited

Table 2
Changes in Net Position

	2022	2021
Revenues		<del>-</del>
Program Revenues:		
Charges for Services	\$112,751	\$63,251
Operating Grants and Contributions	9,107,318	10,803,509
Total Program Revenues	9,220,069	10,866,760
General Revenues:		
Intergovernmental	3,500,000	3,500,000
Investment Income	339,799	17,553
Gain on Sale of Assets Held for Resale	618,476	281,383
Other	608,854	826,209
Total General Revenues	5,067,129	4,625,145
Total Revenues	14,287,198	15,491,905
Program Expenses		
Professional and Contract Services	8,507,546	10,661,428
Indirect Salaries	3,867,397	3,596,998
Administration	1,632,721	1,362,019
Interest and Fiscal Charges	7,142	6,763
Total Program Expenses	14,014,806	15,627,208
Change in Net Position	272,392	(135,303)
Net Position Beginning of Year	25,297,026	25,432,329
Net Position End of Year	\$25,569,418	\$25,297,026

#### **Governmental Activities**

Program Revenues decreased by \$1,646,691 primarily due to a decrease in operating grants recognized.

The Corporation's main revenue sources are State and County grants and a portion of penalties on late paid delinquent property taxes and interest on those delinquencies collected and distributed to the Corporation by the County Treasurer.

The Corporation's expenses decreased due to a decrease in demolition project volume. The Corporation continues to utilize careful monitoring and prudent spending.

#### The Corporation's Funds

Information about the Corporation's governmental funds begins on page 12. These funds are accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting. The Corporation had governmental revenues and other financing sources of \$13,954,440 and expenditures of \$15,133,949.

Management's Discussion and Analysis For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 Unaudited

#### **Budgeting Highlights**

There are no budgetary requirements for the Corporation identified in the Ohio Revised Code. The Corporation's budget is based on accounting for certain transactions on a cash basis for revenue, expenses and encumbrances. The budgetary process that is followed is for control purposes. The Corporation's Director of Finance assists in the preparation of the budget and changes. All recommendations for a budget change come from the Corporation's Chief Operating Officer to the Board of Directors for resolution enactment on the change. The general fund is monitored closely looking for possible revenue shortfalls or over spending by individual departments.

Original and final budgeted revenues and other financing sources for the general fund were \$20,515,100 and \$27,071,400, respectively. The actual revenue and other financing sources was \$23,244,728. The major factors contributing to the decrease of actual revenues as compared to final budgeted revenues were decreases in project reimbursements from operating grants and sale of assets held for resale from the Corporation's estimates. Actual expenditures were \$1,590,449 less than the final budget estimates due primarily to lower than expected volume of professional and contract services for demolition services as well as fewer rehabilitated home and newly constructed home sales than expected. This budgetary information can be found on page 31 under Supplemental Information.

#### **Capital Assets**

## Capital Assets at December 31 (Net of Depreciation)

Table 3	2022	2021
Land	\$1,314,840	\$902,400
Intangible Right to Use Lease - Buildings	82,458	247,372
Intangible Right to Use Lease - Equipment	74,420	0
Buildings	4,539,000	3,848,880
Furniture and Equipment	75,191	111,273
Vehicles	0	525
Computer Software	289	604
<b>Total Capital Assets</b>	\$6,086,198	\$5,111,054

During 2022, the Corporation had \$1,288,835 of land, building and equipment additions. The increase in capital assets was attributable to additions exceeding depreciation expense. See Note 5 of the basic financial statements for additional information on capital assets.

#### **Debt**

At December 31, 2022, the Corporation had long-term obligations for lease payables in the amount of \$159,309. The leases will be paid from the general fund. More detailed information is presented in Note 10 to the basic financial statements.

Management's Discussion and Analysis For the Year Ended December 31, 2022 Unaudited

#### **Current Financial Related Activities**

The Corporation, in its continuing efforts to keep its operational and administrative costs down, has developed an operational policy to provide its staff with the best possible technologically advanced equipment and software available at a reasonable cost in order to assist their efforts in providing the most effective and cost efficient means of operation to meet the Corporation's goals and mission.

#### **Contacting the Corporation's Financial Office**

This financial report is designed to provide the citizens, taxpayers, investors, and creditors of the Corporation with a general overview of the Corporation's finances and to reflect the Corporation's accountability for the monies it receives. Questions concerning any of this information in this report or requests for additional information should be directed to Ronald Pavlovich, Director of Finance, Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation, 812 Huron Road E, Suite 800, Cleveland, Ohio 44115.

Statement of Net Position December 31, 2022

	Governmental
	Activities
Assets	
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents	\$23,340,035
Accounts Receivable	18,456
Intergovernmental Receivable	747,971
Prepaid Items	151,913
Lease Receivable	6,979
Loans Receivable	468,687
Assets Held for Resale	7,995,262
Nondepreciable Capital Assets	1,314,840
Depreciable Capital Assets, Net	4,771,358
Total Assets	38,815,501
Liabilities	
Accounts Payable	657,653
Pollution Remediation Payable	592,749
Vacation Benefits Payable	147,328
Intergovernmental Payable	10,835
Unearned Revenue	5,815,230
Long-Term Liabilities:	, ,
Due Within One Year	98,454
Due In More Than One Year	60,855
Total Liabilities	7,383,104
<b>Deferred Inflows of Resources</b> Leases	5 962 070
Leases	5,862,979
Net Position	
Net Investment in Capital Assets	5,926,889
Restricted for:	
Cuyahoga County Housing Program	9,845,078
Cuyahoga Land Bank Charities	528,001
Unrestricted	9,269,450
Total Net Position	\$25,569,418

Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

		Program R	evenues	Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
	Expenses	Operating Grants and Contributions	Charges for Services	Governmental Activities
<b>Governmental Activities</b>				
Professional and Contract Services	\$8,507,546	\$5,331,840	\$112,751	(\$3,062,955)
Indirect Salaries	3,867,397	2,273,908	0	(1,593,489)
Administration	1,632,721	1,501,570	0	(131,151)
Interest and Fiscal Charges	7,142	0	0	(\$7,142)
Total	\$14,014,806	\$9,107,318	\$112,751	(4,794,737)
	General Revenues Grants and Entitlemen	its not Restricted		
	to Specific Programs	S		3,500,000
	Investment Earnings			339,799
	Gain on Sale of Assets	s Held for Resale		618,476
	Other			608,854
	Total General Revenu	es		5,067,129
	Change in Net Positio	n		272,392
	Net Position Beginnin	g of Year (Restated - S	ee Note 13)	25,297,026
	Net Position End of Ye	ear		\$25,569,418

Balance Sheet Governmental Funds December 31, 2022

	General Fund	Other Governmental Funds	Total Governmental Funds
Assets	¢10 170 402	¢120.001	¢10.207.402
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents	\$10,178,402	\$128,001	\$10,306,403
Accounts Receivable	18,456	0	18,456
Intergovernmental Receivable	747,971	0	747,971
Prepaid Items Loans Receivable	151,913 318,687	0	151,913
Lease Receivable	6,979	0	318,687 6,979
Interfund Receivable	0,979	400,000	400,000
Assets Held for Resale			
Restricted Assets:	5,807,327	0	5,807,327
Cash Equivalents and Cash Equivalents	13,033,632	0	13,033,632
Loans Receivable	150,000	0	150,000
Assets Held for Resale	2,187,935	0	2,187,935
Total Assets	\$32,601,302	\$528,001	\$33,129,303
Liabilities			
Accounts Payable	\$632,553	\$0	\$632,553
Pollution Remediation Payable	592,749	$\overset{\circ}{0}$	592,749
Intergovernmental Payable	10,835	0	10,835
Interfund Payable	400,000	0	400,000
Unearned Revenue	5,815,230	0	5,815,230
Liabilities from Restricted Assets:	, ,		, ,
Accounts Payable	25,100	0	25,100
Total Liabilities	7,476,467	0	7,476,467
<b>Deferred Inflows of Resources</b>			
Leases	5,862,979	0	5,862,979
Unavailable Revenue	419,581	0	419,581
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources	6,282,560	0	6,282,560
Fund Balances			
Nonspendable	6,274,574	0	6,274,574
Restricted	9,845,078	528,001	10,373,079
Unassigned	2,722,623	0	2,722,623
Total Fund Balances	18,842,275	528,001	19,370,276
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of			
Resources and Fund Balances	\$32,601,302	\$528,001	\$33,129,303

Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balances to
Net Position of Governmental Activities
December 31, 2022

Total Governmental Fund Balances	\$19,370,276
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:	
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are not reported in the funds.	6,086,198
Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures and therefore are reported as unavailable revenue in the funds:	410.701
Ohio Department of Development Reimbursement	419,581
Vacation benefits payable is a contractually required benefit not expected to be paid with expendable available financial resources and therefore not reported in the funds.	(147,328)
Long-term liabilities, leases payable, are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds.	(159,309)
Net Position of Governmental Activities	\$25,569,418

Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances Governmental Funds For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

	General Fund	Other Governmental Funds	Total Governmental Funds
Revenues			
Intergovernmental	\$7,000,000	\$0	\$7,000,000
Operating Grants	4,638,022	540,000	5,178,022
Interest	339,799	0	339,799
Charges for Services	3,000	0 715	3,000
Contributions and Donations	100.751	9,715	9,715
Leases	109,751	0	109,751
Other	608,854	0	608,854
Total Revenues	12,699,426	549,715	13,249,141
Expenditures			
Professional and Contract Services	9,374,353	322,600	9,696,953
Indirect Salaries	3,847,103	0	3,847,103
Administration	1,389,002	18,863	1,407,865
Debt Service:			
Principal Retirement	174,886	0	174,886
Interest and Fiscal Charges	7,142	0	7,142
Total Expenditures	14,792,486	341,463	15,133,949
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures	(2,093,060)	208,252	(1,884,808)
Other Financing Sources			
Excess from Sale of Assets Held for Resale	618,476	0	618,476
Inception of Lease Payable	86,823	0	86,823
Total Other Financing Sources	705,299	0	705,299
Net Change in Fund Balances	(1,387,761)	208,252	(1,179,509)
Fund Balances Beginning of Year - Restated (See Note 13)	20,230,036	319,749	20,549,785
Fund Balances End of Year	\$18,842,275	\$528,001	\$19,370,276

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

Net Change in Fund Balance -Total Governmental Funds	(\$1,179,509)
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:	
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital outlay exceeded depreciation/amortization in the current period.  Capital Asset Additions  Current Year Depreciation/Amortization  (313)	3,835 3,691)
Total	975,144
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds:  Cuyahoga County Asbestos Removal	408,988
	400,700
Inception of lease payable in the governmental funds increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net position are not reported as revenues in the statement of activities.	(86,823)
Repayment of principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position.	174,886
Some expenses reported in the statement of activities, such as vacation benefits payable, do not require the use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.	(20.294)
and mercere are not reported as expenditures in governmental rands.	(20,271)

\$272,392

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

#### **Note 1 - Reporting Entity and Basis of Presentation**

Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation (the Corporation) is a body corporate and politic organized on April 16, 2009, by the Board of County Commissioners of Cuyahoga County (BOCC), under the authority of Chapter 1724, Ohio Revised Code.

The Corporation's governing body is the Board of Directors, made up of nine members, including the County Treasurer, the County Executive, a member of the County Council and two representatives of the City of Cleveland or their designees, referred to as the Statutory Directors. The remaining four members are selected unanimously by the Statutory Directors. The Corporation is classified as a related organization of Cuyahoga County for reporting purposes, in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14 as amended by GASB Statement No. 39.

The Corporation is dedicated to strategically acquiring tax foreclosed property and other foreclosed property from the Board of Revision, Sheriff's Sale, Bank Real Estate Owned, County Fiscal Officer, third parties, and through donations. The Corporation then strives to put the properties back to productive use.

The reporting entity for the Corporation is comprised of the primary government, component units and other organizations that are included to ensure that the financial statements are not misleading. The primary government consists of all funds, departments, boards and agencies that are not legally separate from the Corporation and any other organizations that would need to be included to ensure the financial statements of the Corporation are not misleading.

Component units are legally separate organizations for which the Corporation is financially accountable. The Corporation is financially accountable for an organization if the Corporation appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing board; and 1) the Corporation is able to significantly influence the programs or services performed or provided by the organization; or 2) the Corporation is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the organization's resources; the Corporation is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the responsibility to finance the deficits of, or provide financial support to, the organization; or the Corporation is obligated for the debt of the organization. Component units may also include organizations for which the Corporation authorizes the issuance of debt, or the levying of taxes, or determines the budget.

The following component unit meets the blended component unit criteria of Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement numbers 14, 39, and 61 and is reported as part of the primary government in both the fund financial statements and government-wide financial statements:

Cuyahoga Land Bank Charities Cuyahoga Land Bank Charities (CLBC) is a legally separate, non-profit organization, which provides supportive services to vulnerable populations, communities and the organizations who serve them and provides services in the areas of neighborhood stabilization, safety, community development and housing rehabilitation. The Corporation appoints the entirety of CLBC's Board of Directors. Because the Corporation appoints a voting majority of the CLBC's Board of Directors, the Corporation is able to impose its will on the operation of CLBC. As a result, CLBC will be reported as a blended component unit of the Corporation in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14 as amended by GASB Statement No. 39. The Corporation provides financial support to CLBC. Financial statements can be obtained from Ronald Pavlovich, Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation, 812 Huron Road E, Suite 800, Cleveland, Ohio, 44115.

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

#### **Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies**

The financial statements of the Corporation have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to local governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of the Corporation's accounting policies are described as follows.

#### **Basis of Presentation**

The Corporation's basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a statement of net position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements which provide a more detailed level of financial information.

#### **Government-Wide Financial Statements**

The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the Corporation as a whole. These statements include the financial activities of the primary government. The statements usually distinguish between those activities of the Corporation that are governmental and those that are considered business-type. The Corporation, however, has no business-type activities.

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental activities of the Corporation at year-end. The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each program or function of the Corporation's governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service, program or department and therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services offered by the program, grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program and interest earned on grants that is required to be used to support a particular program. Revenues which are not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues of the Corporation, with certain limited exceptions. The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each governmental program is self-financing or draws from the general revenues of the Corporation.

#### **Fund Financial Statements**

During the year, the Corporation segregates transactions related to certain Corporation functions or activities in separate funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal compliance. Fund financial statements are designed to present financial information of the Corporation at this more detailed level. The focus of governmental fund financial statements is on major funds. Each major fund is presented in a separate column. Nonmajor funds are aggregated and presented in a single column.

#### Fund Accounting

The Corporation uses fund accounting to segregate cash and investments that are restricted as to use. A fund is a separate accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts recording cash and other financial resources, together with all related liabilities and residual equities or balances, and attaining certain objectives in accordance with special regulations, restrictions or limitations.

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

#### Governmental Funds

Governmental funds focus on the sources, uses and balances of current financial resources. Expendable assets are assigned to the various governmental funds according to the purposes for which they may or must be used. Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which they will be repaid. The difference between governmental fund assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources is reported as fund balance. The following is the Corporation's only major governmental fund:

**General Fund** The general fund accounts for all financial resources that are received from the County Treasurer from a portion of penalties collected on delinquent property taxes and interest on those delinquencies. The general fund balance is available to the Corporation for any purpose provided it is expended or transferred according to the general laws of Ohio.

The other governmental funds of the Corporation account for grants and other sources whose use is restricted, committed or assigned to a particular purpose.

#### Measurement Focus

#### Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are prepared using a flow of economic resources measurement focus. All assets and deferred outflows of resources and all liabilities and deferred inflows of resources associated with the operation of the Corporation are included on the statement of net position. The statement of activities presents increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in total net position.

#### **Fund Financial Statements**

All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current financial resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets and deferred outflows of resources and current liabilities and deferred inflows of resources generally are included on the balance sheet. The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance reports on the sources (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures and other financing uses) of current financial resources. This approach differs from the manner in which the governmental activities of the government-wide financial statements are prepared. Governmental fund financial statements therefore include a reconciliation with brief explanations to better identify the relationship between the government-wide statements and the statements for the governmental funds.

#### Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and reported on the financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting. Differences in the accrual and modified accrual basis of accounting arise in the recognition of revenue, in the recording of deferred inflows/outflows of resources, and in the presentation of expenses versus expenditures.

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

#### Revenues - Exchange and Nonexchange Transactions

Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in which each party gives and receives essentially equal value, is recorded on the accrual basis when the exchange takes place. On a modified accrual basis, revenue is recorded in the year in which the resources are measurable and become available. Available means that the resources will be collected within the current year or are expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current year. For the Corporation, available means expected to be received within sixty days of year-end.

Nonexchange transactions, in which the Corporation receives value without directly giving equal value in return, include grants, entitlements and donations. Revenue from grants, entitlements and donations is recognized in the year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. Eligibility requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when the resources are required to be used or the year when use is first permitted, matching requirements, in which the Corporation must provide local resources to be used for a specified purpose, and expenditure requirements, in which the resources are provided to the Corporation on a reimbursement basis. On the modified accrual basis, revenue from nonexchange transactions must also be available before it can be recognized.

Under the modified accrual basis, interest and grants revenue sources are considered to be both measurable and available at year-end.

#### Unearned Revenue

Unearned revenue arises when assets are recognized before revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied. The Corporation recognizes unearned revenue for charges for services from title fees and intergovernmental revenue from grants received before the eligibility requirements have been met.

#### Deferred Inflows of Resources

In addition to liabilities, the statements of financial position report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period and will not be recognized until that time. For the Corporation, deferred inflows of resources include leases and unavailable revenue. These amounts have been recorded as a deferred inflow on both the government-wide statement of net position and the governmental fund financial statements. The deferred inflow for leases is related to the leases receivable and is being recognized as lease revenue in a systematic and rational manner over the term of the lease. Unavailable revenue is reported only on the governmental funds balance sheet, and represents receivables which will not be collected within the available period. For the Corporation, unavailable revenue includes intergovernmental grants. These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period the amounts become available. The details of these unavailable revenues are identified on the Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balance to Net Position of Governmental Activities found on page 13.

#### Expenses/Expenditures

On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are incurred.

The measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial resources (expenditures) rather than expenses. Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in which the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable. Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and amortization, are not recognized in governmental funds.

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

#### Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the presentation in the current year financial statements.

#### **Budgetary Process**

The Corporation is not bound by the budgetary laws prescribed by the Ohio Revised Code for purely governmental entities. The Board of Directors of the Corporation adopts an annual budget prior to the beginning of the fiscal year. Appropriations and subsequent amendments are approved by the Board of Directors during the year as required. See supplemental information on page 31.

#### Cash and Cash Equivalents

To improve cash management, cash received by the Corporation is pooled. Individual fund integrity is maintained through the Corporation's records.

During 2022, the Corporation invested in STAR Ohio. STAR Ohio (the State Treasury Asset Reserve of Ohio), is an investment pool managed by the State Treasurer's Office which allows governments within the State to pool their funds for investment purposes. STAR Ohio is not registered with the SEC as an investment company, but has adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), Statement No. 79, "Certain External Investment Pools and Pool Participants." The Corporation measures their investment in STAR Ohio at the net asset value (NAV) per share provided by STAR Ohio. The NAV per share is calculated on an amortized cost basis that provides an NAV per share that approximates fair value.

For 2022, there were no limitations or restrictions on any participant withdrawals due to redemption notice periods, liquidity fees, or redemption gates. However, 24 hours advance notice for deposits and withdrawals of \$100 million or more is encouraged. STAR Ohio reserves the right to limit the transaction to \$250 million per day, requiring the excess amount to be transacted the following business day(s), but only to the \$250 million limit. All accounts of the participant will be combined for these purposes.

Investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase are presented on the financial statements as cash equivalents.

Investment procedures are restricted by the provisions of the Ohio Revised Code. Interest revenue credited to the general fund during 2022 amounted to \$339,799 which includes \$1,864 assigned from other Corporation funds.

#### **Prepaid Items**

Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond the current year, are recorded as prepaid items using the consumption method by recording a current asset for the prepaid amount at the time of purchase and reflecting the expenditure/expense in the year in which the services are consumed.

#### Assets Held for Resale

Assets held for resale represent properties purchased, acquired through foreclosure, donated to the Corporation and costs of rehabilitation and new construction in progress. These properties are recorded and reported at cost, based upon the purchase price plus rehabilitation and construction costs. Vacant lots are either held for assembly for future sale, or sold or transferred to end users or municipalities. In 2022, assets held for resale that were carried at \$2,969,325 were sold for \$3,587,801 with an excess of \$618,476 which is reported as an other financing source on the fund financial statements and a gain on the entity wide financial statements.

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

#### Restricted Assets

Assets are reported as restricted when limitations on their use change in nature or normal understanding of the availability of the asset. Such constraints are either externally imposed by creditors, contributors, grantors, or law of the other governments or imposed by law through constitutional provisions. Restricted assets in the general fund represent assets set aside for the County Housing Program (CHP) and economic development.

#### Capital Assets

General capital assets are those assets which are associated with and generally arise from governmental activities. They generally result from expenditures in the governmental funds. General capital assets are reported in the governmental activities column of the government-wide statement of net position but are not reported in the fund financial statements.

All capital assets (except for intangible right-to-use lease assets which are discussed below) are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical cost) and updated for additions and retirements during the year. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value as of the date received.

All capital assets, except for land, are depreciated or amortized. Improvements are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method for furniture and equipment and vehicles over useful lives of five to fifteen years.

The Corporation is reporting intangible right to use assets related to leased buildings and equipment. The lease asset is initially measured as the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease commencement date, plus certain initial direct costs. Subsequently, these intangible assets are being amortized in a systematic and rational manner over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the underlying asset.

#### **Interfund Balances**

On fund financial statements, outstanding interfund loans and unpaid amounts for interfund services are classified as "interfund receivables/payables." Interfund balance amounts are eliminated in the governmental activities column of the statement of net position.

#### Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide financial statements.

Governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely manner and in full from current financial resources are reported as obligations of the fund. However, compensated absences are reported as a liability in the fund financial statements only to the extent payments come due each period upon the occurrence of employee resignations and retirements. Leases are recognized as a liability on the governmental fund financial statements when due.

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

#### **Compensated Absences**

Vacation benefits are accrued as a liability as the benefits are earned if the employees' rights to receive compensation are attributable to services already rendered and it is probable that the Corporation will compensate the employees for the benefits through paid time off or some other means. The Corporation records a liability for all accumulated unused vacation time when earned for all employees. Since the Corporation's employee policy limits the use of unused vacation time to twelve months from the employee's anniversary date, the outstanding liability is recorded as "vacation benefits payable" on the statement of net position rather than as a long-term liability.

#### Fund Balance

Fund balance is divided into five classifications based primarily on the extent to which the Corporation is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources in the governmental funds. The classifications are as follows:

**Nonspendable** The nonspendable fund balance category includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in spendable form, or legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. The "not in spendable form" criterion includes items that are not expected to be converted to cash. It also includes the long-term amount of loans receivable, as well as property acquired for resale, unless the use of the proceeds from the collection of those receivables or from the sale of those properties is restricted, committed, or assigned.

**Restricted** Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of resources are either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or is imposed by law through constitutional provisions.

**Committed** The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the specific purposes imposed by formal action (resolution) of the Board. Those committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the Board removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action (resolution) it employed to previously commit those amounts. Committed fund balance also incorporates contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources in the fund have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements.

Assigned Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the Corporation for specific purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. In governmental funds other than the general fund, assigned fund balance represents the remaining amount that is not restricted or committed. In the general fund, assigned amounts represent intended uses established by the Board or a Corporation official delegated that authority, or by State Statute.

*Unassigned* Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund and includes all spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications.

The Corporation applies restricted resources first when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which either restricted or unrestricted (committed, assigned, and unassigned) amounts are available. Similarly, within unrestricted fund balance, committed amounts are reduced first followed by assigned, and then unassigned amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

#### Net Position

Net position represents the difference between all other elements in a statement of financial position. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets. Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments.

The Corporation applies restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted net position are available.

#### Intergovernmental Revenue

The Corporation receives operating income through Cuyahoga County. This money represents a portion of the penalties and interest on current unpaid and delinquent property taxes once these taxes are paid and are known as DTAC funds. Pursuant to ORC 321.263, these penalty and interest monies are collected by the County when taxes are paid and then are paid to the Corporation upon the Corporation's written request. Of this amount, in 2022 the County has restricted \$3,500,000 for the Cuyahoga County Housing Program.

#### **Estimates**

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

#### Note 3 – Deposits and Investments

Monies held by the Corporation are classified by State statute into three categories.

Active deposits are public deposits determined to be necessary to meet current demands upon the Corporation treasury. Active monies must be maintained either as cash in the Corporation treasury, in commercial accounts payable or withdrawable on demand, including negotiable order of withdrawal (NOW) accounts, or in money market deposit accounts.

Inactive deposits are public deposits that the Corporation has identified as not required for use within the current five year period of designation of depositories. Inactive deposits must either be evidenced by certificates of deposit maturing not later than the end of the current period of designation of depositories, or by savings or deposit accounts including, but not limited to, passbook accounts.

Interim deposits are deposits of interim monies. Interim monies are those monies which are not needed for immediate use but which will be needed before the end of the current period of designation of depositories. Interim deposits must be evidenced by time certificates of deposit maturing not more than one year from the date of deposit or by savings or deposit accounts, including passbook accounts.

Interim monies held by the Corporation can be deposited or invested in the following securities:

1. United States Treasury bills, bonds notes, or any other obligation or security issued by the United States Treasury, or any other obligation guaranteed as to principal and interest by the United States;

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

- 2. Bonds, notes, debentures, or any other obligations or securities issued by any federal government agency or instrumentality, including, but not limited to, Federal National Mortgage Association, Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal Farm Credit Bank, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, and Government National Mortgage Association. All federal agency securities shall be direct issuances of federal government agencies or instrumentalities;
- 3. No-load money market mutual funds consisting exclusively of obligations described in (1) or (2) and repurchase agreements secured by such obligations, provided that investments in securities described in this division are made only through eligible institutions;
- 4. Time certificates of deposit or savings or deposit accounts including, but not limited to, passbook accounts;
- 5. Bonds and other obligations of the State of Ohio, and, with certain limitations including a requirement for maturity within ten years from the date of settlement, bonds and other obligations of political subdivisions of the State of Ohio, if training requirements have been met;
- 6. The State Treasurer's investment pool (STAR Ohio);
- 7. Certain bankers' acceptances (for a period not to exceed one hundred eighty days) and commercial paper notes (for a period not to exceed two hundred seventy days) in an amount not to exceed 40 percent of the interim monies available for investment at any one time if training requirements have been met; and
- 8. Written repurchase agreements in the securities described in (1) or (2) provided the market value of the securities subject to the repurchase agreement must exceed the principal value of the agreement by at least two percent and be marked to market daily, and the term of the agreement must not exceed thirty days.

Investments in stripped principal or interest obligations, reverse repurchase agreements, and derivatives are prohibited. The issuance of taxable notes for the purpose of arbitrage, the use of leverage, and short selling are also prohibited. Except as noted above, an investment must mature within five years from the date of settlement, unless matched to a specific obligation or debt of the Corporation, and must be purchased with the expectation that it will be held to maturity.

Investments may only be made through specified dealers and institutions. Payment for investments may be made only upon delivery of the securities representing the investments to the treasurer or, if the securities are not represented by a certificate, upon receipt of confirmation of transfer from the custodian.

#### **Investments**

At December 31, 2022, the Corporation had \$22,510,029 invested in STAR Ohio with an average maturity of 31.9 days. The investment in STAR Ohio is valued at net asset value (NAV) per share.

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

#### **Deposits**

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the Corporation's deposits may not be returned. The Corporation has no deposit policy for custodial risk beyond the requirements of State statute. Ohio law requires that deposits either be insured or be protected by eligible securities pledged to the Corporation and deposited with a qualified trustee by the financial institution as security for repayment whose market value at all times shall be at least one hundred five percent of the deposits being secured. At year end, \$552,203 of the Corporation's bank balance of \$802,203 was uninsured and uncollateralized. Although the collateral securities were held by the pledging financial institutions' trust department and all statutory requirements for the deposit of money had been followed, noncompliance with Federal requirements could potentially subject the Corporation to a successful claim by the FDIC.

#### Note 4 – Employee Benefits

#### **Compensated Absences**

The Corporation employees earn vacation leave at varying rates based upon length of service. All employees may carry over accrued vacation time including any unused amounts resulting from the first year's employment, but all unused vacation time carried over from one calendar year must be used by the end of the following year, or it will be forfeited. Eligible employees hired prior to July 1, 2009, and eligible employees hired thereafter but who have worked continuously for at least six months may, conversely, ask that any unused vacation time be "cashed out" and paid to the employee. To "cash out", any unused carryover vacation time may be paid to the eligible employee if requested in writing no later than the end of the month following the anniversary date of their employment.

#### Health Insurance Benefits

The Corporation provides employee medical and prescription drug insurance through United Healthcare. Full-time employees and regular part-time employees working at least 25 hours per week are entitled to group health insurance. These employees pay 10 percent of the annual premium for these benefits. The insurance plans include deductibles ranging from \$500 to \$3,000 for single and \$500 to \$6,000 for family.

#### Social Security

All employees pay into Social Security. The Corporation's liability is 6.2 percent of wages.

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

**Note 5 - Capital Assets** 

A summary of changes in capital assets during 2022 follows:

	Restated Balance 12/31/2021	Additions	Deletions	Balance 12/31/2022
Governmental Activities: Nondepreciable Capital Assets Land	\$902,400	\$412,440	\$0	\$1,314,840
Depreciable Capital Assets Intangible Right to Use				
Buildings	247,372	0	0	247,372
Equipment	0	86,823	0	86,823
Total Intangible Right to Use	247,372	86,823	0	334,195
Buildings	3,897,600	787,560	0	4,685,160
Furniture and Equipment	299,581	2,012	0	301,593
Vehicles	10,500	0	0	10,500
Computer Software	87,048	0	0	87,048
Total Capital Assets, Being Depreciated/Amortized	4,542,101	876,395	0	5,418,496
Total Capital Assets, Governmental Activities	5,444,501	1,288,835	0	6,733,336
Less Accumulated Depreciation/Amortization  Intangible Right to Use				
Buildings	0	(164,914)	0	(164,914)
Equipment	0	(12,403)	0	(12,403)
Total Intangible Right to Use	0	(177,317)	0	(177,317)
Buildings	(48,720)	(97,440)	0	(146,160)
Furniture and Equipment	(188,308)	(38,094)	0	(226,402)
Vehicles	(9,975)	(525)	0	(10,500)
Computer Software	(86,444)	(315)	0	(86,759)
Total Accumulated Depreciation/Amortization	(333,447)	(313,691)	0	(647,138)
Governmental Activities Capital Assets, Net	\$5,111,054	\$975,144	\$0	\$6,086,198

Computer software is the Corporation's internally generated software and is being amortized over 60 months. Amortization for this asset is presented as administrative expense on the Statement of Activities.

<sup>\*\*</sup> Of the current year depreciation/amortization total of \$313,691, \$177,317 is presented as administration expense on the Statement of Activities related to the Corporation's intangible assets of copiers and office space, which is included as an Intangible Right to Use Lease. With the implementation of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 87, *Leases*, a lease meeting the criteria of this statement requires the lessee to recognize the lease liability and an intangible right to use asset.

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

#### **Note 6 - Risk Management**

The Corporation is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. During 2022, the Corporation contracted with Risk Strategy Company for various types of insurance as follows:

Type	Coverage
General Aggregate	\$1,000,000/\$2,000,000
Liability Property	1,000,000
Commercial General Liability	1,000,000
Personal Injury	1,000,000
<b>Business Personal Property</b>	300,000
Ohio Employers Liability	1,000,000
Directors/Officers Liability	2,000,000
Employment Practices Liability	1,000,000
Employee Dishonesty	250,000
Employee Benefits Liability	1,000,000/3,000,000
Umbrella Coverage	5,000,000
Cyber Liability	1,000,000

Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance coverage in any of the past three years and there was no significant change in insurance coverage from the prior year.

#### **Note 7 - Receivables**

Receivables at December 31, 2022, consisted of leases, funds due from Cuyahoga County, grants and loans to various governments and reimbursements due from various organizations. Allowance for doubtful accounts were not recorded because all receivables are expected to be collected.

The principal items of governmental activities are intergovernmental receivables for Cuyahoga County Treasurer in the amount of \$308,390, Ohio Department of Development in the amount of \$419,581 and Redevelopment Authority of the City of Cleveland in the amount of \$20,000.

The Corporation is reporting leases receivable of \$6,979 in the general fund at December 31, 2022. This amount represents the discounted future lease payments. This discount is being amortized using the interest method. For 2022, the Corporation recognized lease revenue of \$13,751 and interest revenue of \$289 in the general fund related to lease payments received. The Corporation is reporting a deferred inflow-leases in the amount of \$5,862,979 for lease receivable payments that have been prepaid in the general fund at December 31, 2022. For 2022, the Corporation recognized lease revenue of \$96,000 related to the payment that would have been made in 2022. A description of the Corporation's leasing arrangements is as follows:

Building Leases – The Corporation has entered into lease agreements for office space with Seibert-Keck Insurance Partners in 2020 for three years ending in 2023. The Corporation receives monthly payments. The future lease principal and interest payments are \$6,979 and \$41, respectively.

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

#### **Note 8 - Fund Balances**

Fund balance is classified as nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned and/or unassigned based primarily on the extent to which the Corporation is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources in the government fund. The constraints placed on fund balance for the general fund and other governmental funds is presented as follows:

		Other	Total	
	General	Governmental	Governmental	
Fund Balance	Fund	Funds	Funds	
Nonspendable:				
Prepaids	\$151,913	\$0	\$151,913	
Loans Receivable	315,334	0	315,334	
Assets Held for Resale	5,807,327	0	5,807,327	
Total Nonspendable	6,274,574	0	6,274,574	
Restricted:				
Economic Development	192,902	0	192,902	
Cuyahoga County Housing Program	9,652,176	0	9,652,176	
Cuyahoga Land Bank Charities	0	528,001	528,001	
Total Restricted	9,845,078	528,001	10,373,079	
Unassigned	2,722,623	0	2,722,623	
Total	\$18,842,275	\$528,001	\$19,370,276	

#### Note 9 - Pollution Remediation

For 2022, the Corporation is reporting a liability for pollution remediation of \$592,749. The EPA required the Corporation to remediate any asbestos found in any of their properties or projects. The Corporation estimates the liability based on the current value of outlays using the expected cash flow technique.

As part of the Corporation's efforts to put properties back to productive use, certain acquired properties are found to contain asbestos. The cost of remediation estimated by the Corporation is \$592,749 as of 2022 with the potential for additional costs in the future based on survey results. None of this amount is expected to be recovered from Cuyahoga County as the reimbursement program ended in 2022.

#### Note 10 – Long-Term Liabilities

	Amount			Amount	Amounts
	Outstanding			Outstanding	Due in
	12/31/21	Additions	Deletions	12/31/22	One Year
Governmental Activities:					
Leases Payable	\$247,372	\$86,823	\$174,886	\$159,309	\$98,454

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

During 2022, the Corporation signed a lease for copiers. The Corporation also has outstanding agreements to lease office space. Due to the implementation of GASB Statement 87, these leases have met the criteria of leases thus requiring them to be recorded by the Corporation. The future lease payments were discounted based on the interest rate implicit in the lease or using the Corporation's incremental borrowing rate. This discount is being amortized using the interest method over the life of the lease. The lease will be paid from the general fund. A summary of the principal and interest amounts for the remaining leases is as follows:

Year	Principal	Interest
2023	\$98,453	\$4,636
2024	16,107	3,213
2025	17,100	2,220
2026	18,155	1,165
2027	9,494	167
	\$159,309	\$11,401

The Corporation has an open line of credit with Huntington Bank up to \$2,000,000. The line of credit is considered a direct borrowing. There was no activity on the line of credit during 2022.

#### **Note 11 – Interfund Transactions**

Interfund balances at December 31, 2022 consisted of \$400,000 interfund payable to Cuyahoga Land Bank Charities relating to the timing of grant monies.

#### **Note 12 – COVID-19**

The United States and the State of Ohio declared a state of emergency in March of 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Ohio's state of emergency ended in June 2021 while the national state of emergency ended in April 2023. During 2022, the Corporation received COVID-19 funding. The Corporation will continue to spend available COVID-19 funding consistent with the applicable program guidelines. The Corporation's investment portfolio fluctuates with market conditions, and due to market volatility, the amount of gains or losses that will be realized in subsequent periods, if any, cannot be determined.

#### Note 13 – Change in Accounting Principles and Restatement of Fund Balances and Net Position

#### Change in Accounting Principles

For fiscal year 2022, the Corporation implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87, *Leases* and related guidance from (GASB) Implementation Guide No. 2019-3, *Leases*. The Corporation also implemented GASB Statement No. 91, *Conduit Debt Obligations*, GASB Statement No. 92, *Omnibus 2020*, GASB Statement No. 97, *Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans*, and *Implementation Guide No. 2020-1*.

GASB Statement 87 enhances the relevance and consistency of information of the government's leasing activities. It establishes requirements for lease accounting based on the principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. A lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right to use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources.

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements For The Year Ended December 31, 2022

These changes were incorporated in the Corporation's 2022 financial statements. The Corporation recognized \$20,730 in leases receivable at January 1, 2022; however, this entire amount was offset by the deferred inflows related to leases. The Corporation also recognized deferred inflows of \$5,234,695 related to a lease receivable that was prepaid. The Corporation also recognized \$247,372 in leases payable at January 1, 2022 which was offset by the intangible asset, right to use lease – buildings and equipment.

GASB 91 clarifies the existing definition of a conduit debt obligation; establishing that a conduit debt obligation is not a liability of the issuer; establishing standards for accounting and financial reporting of additional commitments and voluntary commitments extended by issuers and arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations; and improving required note disclosures.

GASB 92 addresses a variety of topics including reporting by public entity risk pools for amounts that are recoverable from reinsurers or excess insurers and references to nonrecurring fair value measurements of assets or liabilities in authoritative literature. These changes did not impact the Corporation's financial statements.

GASB 97, among other items, requires that a Section 457 plan be classified as either a pension plan or an other employee benefit plan depending on whether the plan meets the definition of a pension plan.

The changes for GASB 91 and GASB 97 were incorporated in the Corporation's 2022 financial statements; however, there was no effect on beginning net position/fund balance.

#### Restatement of Fund Balances and Net Position

During 2022, it was determined unearned revenue and capital assets were understated. This restatement along with the implementation of GASB Statement No. 87 had the following effect on fund balance and net position as of December 31, 2021:

		Other	Total
		Governmental	Governmental
	General	Funds	Funds
Fund Balance December 31, 2021	\$25,130,536	\$319,749	\$25,450,285
Adjustments:			
Unearned Revenue	(148,500)	0	(148,500)
GASB 87	(4,752,000)	0	(4,752,000)
Restated Fund Balance December 31, 2021	\$20,230,036	\$319,749	\$20,549,785

	Governmental Activities
Net Position December 31, 2021	\$25,446,246
Adjustments:	4.751.200
Capital Assets Unearned Revenue	4,751,280 (148,500)
GASB 87	(4,752,000)
Restated Net Position December 31, 2021	\$25,297,026

#### Note 14 – Subsequent Event

On March 3, 2023, the Corporation signed an affordable home loan agreement with Cuyahoga County. The Corporation will loan \$1,500,000 to the County for the creation of affordable residential units for low and moderate income individuals in Cuyahoga County.

#### **Supplemental Information**

Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
In Fund Balance - Budget (Non-GAAP Basis) and Actual
General Fund For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

	Budgeted Amounts			Variance with Final Budget
	Original	Final	Actual	Positive (Negative)
Revenues				
Intergovernmental	\$8,500,000	\$7,000,000	\$7,000,000	\$0
Operating Grants	4,591,000	11,915,000	10,344,523	(1,570,477)
Charges for Services	0	0	150,000	150,000
Leases	0	0	1,214,040	1,214,040
Interest	17,500	245,000	339,510	94,510
Other	150,500	619,700	608,854	(10,846)
Total Revenues	13,259,000	19,779,700	19,656,927	(122,773)
Expenditures				
Current:				
Professional and Contract Services	19,190,800	16,810,400	15,339,726	1,470,674
Indirect Salaries	3,977,500	3,869,700	3,847,103	22,597
Administration	1,630,500	1,529,000	1,431,822	97,178
Total Expenditures	24,798,800	22,209,100	20,618,651	1,590,449
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures	(11,539,800)	(2,429,400)	(961,724)	1,467,676
Other Financing Sources				
Sale of Assets Held for Resale	7,256,100	7,291,700	3,587,801	(3,703,899)
Net Change in Fund Balance	(4,283,700)	4,862,300	2,626,077	(2,236,223)
Fund Balance Beginning of Year	20,585,957	20,585,957	20,585,957	0
Fund Balance End of Year	\$16,302,257	\$25,448,257	\$23,212,034	(\$2,236,223)

See accompanying notes to the supplemental information

Notes to the Supplemental Information For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

#### Note 1 – Budgetary Basis of Accounting

#### **Budgetary Process**

The budgetary process that is followed by the Corporation is for control purposes and is set forth in its Code of Regulations. At least thirty days prior to the end of each fiscal year, the President shall submit to the Board of Directors the annual budget of the Corporation for the next succeeding fiscal year. The Board of Directors shall, at a regular or special meeting, conduct a public hearing on such budget and shall, at such meeting or at another meeting called for the purpose, adopt the annual budget which shall govern the expenditures of the Corporation during the fiscal year to which such budget applies. On and after the commencement of a fiscal year, the annual budget adopted for such fiscal year may be amended or supplemented by the Board of Directors as circumstances warrant. No binding monetary obligation of the Corporation shall be entered into unless there exists at the time in the applicable budget line item an unencumbered balance in an amount no less than lesser of (a) the amount of the monetary obligation to be incurred without either the amendment or supplement of such budget and line item by the Board of Directors and (b) the amount of the monetary obligation that will be due and payable in the fiscal year in which the monetary obligation is incurred. Nothing in this budgetary process shall be construed as prohibiting the President from approving the transfer of an unencumbered balance from any line item, account, or fund to a line item, account, or fund with respect to which an insufficient unencumbered balance exists when it is in the best interests of the Corporation to enter into the binding monetary obligation. In the event that due to unforeseen circumstances the annual budget has not been adopted and is not ready for adoption by the last day of the fiscal year immediately preceding the year of which such budget is to be effective, the Board of Directors may adopt a temporary budget governing fiscal matters for the first three months of the new fiscal year.

#### **Budgetary Basis of Accounting**

While the Corporation is reporting financial position, results of operations and changes in fund balance on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), the budgetary basis is based upon accounting for certain transactions on a basis of cash receipts and disbursements. The Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget (Non-GAAP Basis) and Actual presented for the general fund is presented on the budgetary basis to provide a meaningful comparison of actual results with the budget.

The major differences between the budget basis and GAAP basis are:

- 1. Revenues are recorded when received in cash (budget basis) as opposed to when susceptible to accrual (GAAP basis).
- 2. Expenditures are recorded when paid in cash (budget basis) as opposed to when the liability is incurred (GAAP basis).

# Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation Notes to the Supplemental Information

Notes to the Supplemental Information For the Year Ended December 31, 2022

The following table summarizes the adjustments necessary to reconcile the GAAP basis statement to the budgetary basis statement for the general fund.

#### Net Change in Fund Balance

GAAP Basis	(\$1,387,761)
Net Adjustment for Revenue Accruals	9,840,003
Net Adjustment for Expenditure Accruals	(5,826,165)
Budget Basis	\$2,626,077

(This Page Intentionally Left Blank.)



# INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Directors and Management Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation Cuyahoga County, Ohio 812 Huron Road, Suite #800 Cleveland, Ohio 44115

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (*Government Auditing Standards*), the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation, Cuyahoga County, Ohio (the Corporation), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Corporation's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated May 30, 2023, in which we noted the Corporation restated its governmental activities' net position and the General Fund's fund balance at December 31, 2021 to correct an understatement of capital assets and unearned revenue as well as for the implementation of GASB 87, Leases.

#### Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Corporation's internal control.

A *deficiency in internal control* exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A *material weakness* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.

Cuyahoga County Land Reutilization Corporation
Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*Page 2 of 2

#### **Report on Compliance and Other Matters**

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Corporation's financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*.

#### **Purpose of This Report**

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Lea & Associates, Inc.

Rea & Associates, Inc. New Philadelphia, Ohio May 30, 2023